

Early Paleozoic and Variscan Events in the Austroalpine Rennfeld Block (Eastern Alps): A U-Pb Zircon Study

FRANZ NEUBAUER*), WOLFGANG FRISCH**) & BENT TAUBER HANSEN***)

10 Text-Figures, 1 Table

Österreichische Karte 1 : 50.000 Blatt 134 Steiermark Rennfeld-Kristallin Ostalpin Variszische Orogenese Metamorphose Magmatismus

Contents

	Zusammenfassung	567
	Abstract	568
1.	Introduction	568
2.	Field Relations	568
З.	Analytical Techniques	571
4.	Geochronologic Results	572
	4.1. Paragneiss	572
	4.2. Garnet Amphibolite	573
	4.3. Metatonalite	573
	4.4 Augengneiss	574
	4.5. Trondhiemite Gneiss	575
5.	Discussion	575
6	Conclusions	578
0.	Acknowledgements	578
	Rafaranças	578

Altpaläozische und variszische Ereignisse im oberostalpinen Rennfeld-Block (Ostalpen) anhand von U-Pb-Zirkon-Untersuchungen

Zusammenfassung

Basierend auf Geländebeziehungen und konventionellen U-Pb-Zirkonaltersdatierungen wird eine mehrstufige präalpidische magmatische und metamorphe Entwicklung im Rennfeld-Kristallin der Ostalpen nachgewiesen. Paragneiszirkone sind nahezu konkordant und zeigen an, dass die Sedimentation nicht vor dem späten Proterozoikum stattgefunden haben kann. Im Gegensatz dazu zeigen obere Schnittpunktalter des Rennfeld-Metatonalits und von Augengneisen eine vererbte präkambrische Komponente mit einem möglichen Alter von bis zu 3 Ga. Ein metamorphes Ereignis mit Anatexis fand zwischen 470 und 420 Ma statt, wobei vermutlich auch Granite (Vorläufer des Augengneises) intrudierten. Ein zweites magmatisch/metamorphes Ereignis im späten Oberdevon bis frühen Unterkarbon (ca. 367–353 Ma) produzierte Trondhjemite durch Aufschmelzung von Amphiboliten. Subkonkordante Zirkone mit einem Alter um 353±2 Ma werden als Bildungsalter der Trondhjemite interpretiert. Das Schmelzereignis wurde vermutlich durch die Intrusion des Rennfeld-Metatonalites verursacht, dessen Zirkone mit einem unteren Schnittpunktalter als Kristallisationsalter der Zirkone interpretiert werden.

Die klastischen Zirkone in den Paragneisen zeigen eine juvenile Magmenproduktion im obersten Proterozoikum oder untersten Paläozoikum an. Das mittelpaläozoische thermale Ereignis (ca. 470–420 Ma) wird von Intrusionen gefolgt, welche sich wahrscheinlich über einer Subduktionszone längs eines aktiven Kontinentalrandes vor der variszischen Kollision kontinentaler Platten bildeten.

^{*)} Univ.-Prof Dr. FRANZ NEUBAUER, Institut für Geologie und Paläntologie, Universität Salzburg, Hellbrunner Straße 34, A-5020 Salzburg, Austria; Fax: ++43-662-8044-621; e-mail: franz.neubauer@sbg.ac.at.

^{**)} Univ.-Prof. Dr. WolfGANG FRISCH, Institut für Geologie und Paläontologie, Universität Tübingen, Sigwartstraße 10, D-72026 Tübingen, Germany.

^{***)} Prof. Dr. BENT TAUBER HANSEN, Institut für Mineralogie, Universität Münster, Corrensstraße 24, D-48149 Münster.

Abstract

Based on field relationships and a conventional U-Pb zircon study the Austroalpine crystalline basement exposed in the Rennfeld region of the Eastern Alps exhibits a multi-stage pre-Alpine magmatic-metamorphic evolution. Nearly concordant zircon ages from a paragneiss suggest that sedimentation of the protolith of the paragneiss occurred not before late Proterozoic times. In contrast, upper intercepts of zircons from the metatonalite and augengneiss monitor Precambrian memories up to 3 Ga. A major metamorphic event between 470 and 420 Ma reached anatexis and resulted in strongly disturbed Pb isotopic systems. Furthermore, the protolith of an augengneiss likely intruded during this event. A second anatectic event occurred in the Early Carboniferous (ca. 367-353 Ma) and produced trondhjemites (subconcordant zircon age of 353 ± 2 Ma) by partial melting of amphibolites due to overheating during intrusion of the Rennfeld metatonalite (353 +7/-10 Ma lower intercept zircon age). Clastic zircons in paragneisses infer a zone of juvenile magma production in the uppermost Proterozoic or lowest Paleozoic and a mid-Paleozoic tectonothermal event which was followed by intrusions (ca. 367-353 Ma) associated with steep thermal gradients above a subduction zone in an active continental margin setting that predates Variscan continental plate collision.

1. Introduction

Attention was focussed on the evolution of the basement in the circum-Mediterranean Alpine mountain belts during the last fifteen years (e.g. FLÜGEL et al., 1987; FRISCH et al., 1990; VON RAUMER & NEUBAUER, 1993). The progress in understanding the Alpine tectonic development and the increasing number of geochronological data constraining pre-Alpine magmatic and metamorphic events within these belts allowed more insights in the Variscan and pre-Variscan evolution.

Much progress was achieved by application of the U-Pb method on zircon and the Sm-Nd method on whole rock samples and minerals that enable to look behind the Alpine metamorphic overprint (SÖLLNER & HANSEN, 1987; EICH-HORN et al., 1995, 1999; MILLER & THÖNI, 1995; MÜLLER et al., 1995; SCHALTEGGER et al., 1997; KLÖTZLI-CHOWANETZ et al., 1997; THÖNI, 1999 and references). So, for instance, Late Proterozoic and Early Paleozoic magmatic processes of a subduction-related environment are now well-known in the Penninic basement of the Eastern Alps (VON QUADT, 1992; VAVRA & HANSEN, 1991; GEBAUER, 1993; KÖPPEL, 1993; EICHHORN et al., 1995, 1999; for a review, see NEUBAUER, 2002). In the Austroalpine basement, these early processes remain poorly constrained although some data argue for similar processes in Late Proterozoic and Early Paleozoic times (e.g., FRANK et al., 1976; HAISS, 1990; MAGGETTI & FLISCH, 1993; MÜLLER et al., 1995; SCHALTEGGER et al., 1997). In contrast to Penninic domains, an intra-Ordovician tectonothermal event and an overprint by Variscan metamorphism are well established for the Austroalpine zone (SCHARBERT & SCHÖNLAUB, 1980; FRANK et al., 1987; SÖLLNER & HANSEN, 1987; THÖNI, 1999). Granitoids formed in the Ordovician (460-440 Ma) and in the Carboniferous and Permian (360-260 Ma) (FRANK et al., 1987; STILLE & BULETTI, 1987; PEINDL, 1990; FINGER et al., 1997). In contrast, protolith age data of the widespread mafic rocks in the Austroalpine unit are scarce and controversial (MANBY & THIEDIG, 1988; THÖNI & JAGOUTZ, 1992; MILLER & THÖNI, 1995; THÖNI, 1999). A further problem arises with the apparent non-record of subduction-related magmatism that predated Variscan continent-continent collision (BONIN et al., 1993; FINGER et al., 1997; SCHERMAIER, et al., 1997).

In this paper, we present results of conventional multigrain U-Pb dating of zircons carried out in the Rennfeld block, which is a part of the widely distributed "gneissamphibolite association" (FRISCH et al., 1987; NEUBAUER & FRISCH, 1993) within the Austroalpine basement complex of the Eastern Alps (Text-Fig. 1). Conventional multi-grain U-Pb dating of zircons was performed between 1985 and 1986 with methods which are replaced by refinements (single grain dating, abrasion of zircons) not available at that time. However, these data still represent good results which constrain both timing of polyphase pre-Alpine metamorphic events and subduction-related magmatism in the Austroalpine unit, and allow more precise insights in the timing and nature of Early Paleozoic and Variscan accretion processes of Gondwanan tectonic elements to the Laurussian continent.

2. Field Relations

The Rennfeld block shows similar lithology, structure, and evolution as the adjacent Gleinalm region about which more details are known (FRANK et al., 1976; FRISCH et al., 1987; NEUBAUER, 1988; NEUBAUER & FRISCH, 1993) (Text-Fig. 1b). Both blocks are separated by a multiply activated fault zone of Late Cretaceous to Miocene age (NEUBAUER et al., 1995). The Rennfeld block mainly consists of generally N-dipping migmatitic paragneisses (Mugel paragneiss) and amphibolites (Text-Figs. 1b, 2). Distinct plagioclaserich amphibolites, which show different mineral proportions, grain size, and texture, are intercalated to form a pile in the upper portions of the sequence. Lenses of marble, garnet micaschist, biotite-plagioclase gneiss, and garnet amphibolite are also intercalated. Meter-scaled nebulitic trondhjemite gneiss-hornblendefels lenses at the base of the plagioclase amphibolite pile suggest a genetic relationship to the migmatization process of the migmatites below (Text-Fig. 3a). The trondhjemite is therefore interpreted as the product of partial melting of the plagioclase amphibolites, leaving restitic hornblendefels behind (NEUBAUER, 1988).

The middle portion of the gneiss-amphibolite sequence is intruded by the Rennfeld igneous suite and minor granite bodies, which both suffered medium-grade metamorphism and have largely conformable contacts to the country rocks (Text-Fig. 2). The Rennfeld suite is a layered intrusion mainly made up of metatonalite and metadiorite (the "metablastic amphibolite" of older literature [NEUBAUER, 1988]). The metatonalites and metadiorites contain plagioclase megacrysts (0.5 to 1 cm in diameter) in a matrix of amphibole, biotite and quartz. The tonalite/diorite body comprises lense-shaped metre- to dekametre-scaled inclusions of a wide compositional range (wehrlite, pyroxenite, hornblendefels, different types of hornblende metagabbro, granitic augengneiss). Based on petrographic, geochemical and Rb-Sr isotopic data NEUBAUER (1988, 1992) noted the calcalkaline character of the suite and reported a Rb-Sr whole rock errorchron of 390±49 Ma for the Rennfeld tonalite/diorite.

While the encountering gneiss-amphibolite association experienced two pre-Alpine medium-grade metamorphic events, the Rennfeld intrusive complex was only affected by the second event (NEUBAUER, 1988).

The paragneisses show evidence of three distinct episodes of metamorphism. The first metamorphic event led to the formation of migmatitic rocks with leucosome veins that are strictly parallel to the schistosity (Text-Fig. 3b). Trondhjemite and hornblendefels lenses in the basal plagioclase amphibolite probably formed during a second



Text-Fig. 1. Location of the Gleinalm and Rennfeld blocks within the Alps (a) and simplified geological map of the Gleinalm and Rennfeld blocks (b).

Table 1. U-Pb analytical data of zircon concentrates from the R	iennfeld block (Eas	tern Alps).									
	Sample weight	Con	centrat	ions		Isotopi	c ratios		Appare	ent age	s (Ma)
Fractions	(mg)	U (ppm)	Pb _{com} (ppm)	Pb _{rad} (ppm)	$\frac{^{206}\mathrm{Pb}}{^{204}\mathrm{Pb}}$	$\frac{^{206}\text{Pb}}{^{238}\text{U}}$	$\frac{^{207}\text{Pb}}{^{235}\text{U}}$	$\frac{^{207}\mathrm{Pb}}{^{206}\mathrm{Pb}}$	$\frac{^{206}\text{Pb}}{^{238}\text{U}}$	$\frac{^{207}\text{Pb}}{^{235}\text{U}}$	$\frac{^{207}\text{Pb}}{^{206}\text{Pb}}$
Paragneiss RF450											
(1) 57-80 µm, red	3.3	250	0.11	17.5	4891	0.0718	0.562	0.05677	447	453	483
(2) 80-100 µm, red	5.8	282	0.10	19.0	9916	0.0697	0.537	0.05585	435	437	447
(3) 100-125 µm, red	5.1	238	0.06	15.9	10328	0.0687	0.532	0.05614	428	433	458
(4) 125-160 µm, red	3.4	222	0.04	14.8	9602	0.0689	0.528	0.05562	429	431	437
(5) >160 µm, red	3.0	246	0.11	16.3	6438	0.0685	0.528	0.05587	427	430	447
Garnet amphibolite RF112G											
(1) 63-80 µm	5.8	64.4	0.05	7.73	1504	0.0739	0.602	0.05907	460	479	570
(2) 80-100 μm	4.0	36.6	0.09	4.25	304	0.0728	0.575	0.05731	453	461	504
(3) 100-125 µm	6.2	60.5	0.08	6.25	1662	0.0712	0.569	0.05802	443	458	531
(4) 125-160 µm	11.7	42.8	0.05	5.03	3148	0.0739	0.587	0.05755	460	469	513
$(5) > 160 \ \mu m$	10.9	46.4	3.71	9.28	76	0.0754	0.610	0.05862	469	483	553
Metatonalite RF118G											
(1) <40 µm	2.45	588	1.25	35.6	3120	0.0575	0.444	0.05607	361	374	455
(2) 40-63µm	2.4	577	0.86	34.9	1837	0.0571	0.435	0.05522	358	367	421
(3) 63-80 µm	7.4	588	1.30	35.6	2232	0.0575	0.442	0.05576	360	372	443
(4) 80-100 µm	10.5	539	0.17	32.6	6061	0.0576	0.452	0.05691	361	379	488
(5) 100-125 μm	5.85	575	0.12	35.8	8403	0.0594	0.509	0.06211	372	418	678
$(6) > 125 \mu m$	4.25	397	0.04	25.3	6757	0.0606	0.514	0.06143	380	421	654
(7) 125-160 µm	1.8	304	0.23	19.0	2842	0.0600	0.4892	0.05914	376	404	572
Augen gneiss RF460											
(1) <40 µm	3.0	512	0.39	34.2	4042	0.0706	0.555	0.05700	439	448	491
(2) 40-63μm	5.95	652	0.33	44.2	7684	0.0705	0.564	0.05809	439	454	533
(3) 63-80 µm	13.8	584	0.76	41.1	3357	0.0724	0.594	0.05951	450	473	586
(4) 100-125 µm	3.4	592	8.14	42.8	360	0.0757	0.670	0.06412	471	520	746
Trondhjemite gneiss RF107G											
(1) 100-125 µm	2.3	180	0.43	9.72	1254	0.0562	0.416	0.05361	353	353	355
(2) 125-160 µm	9.0	137	0.31	7.40	1438	0.0563	0.418	0.05378	353	354	362
$(3) > 160 \mu m$	۷.۷	142	0.22	/.03	2098	1960.0	0.416	0.05374	352	353	360



Simplified geological map of the Rennfeld region (after NEUBAUER, 1988) and sample locations for U-Pb zircon geochronology.

anatectic event (Text-Fig. 3a). Second generation irregular and discordant leucosome veins crosscut the veins and the schistosity of the first event (Text-Fig. 3b). These first two events are of pre-Alpine age because corresponding structures are cut by overlying Permian and Mesozoic cover successions (NEUBAUER, 1988). The third metamorphic event was within greenschist facies conditions and led to retrograde overprint concentrated in shear zones during the Cretaceous metamorphic period (HANDLER, 1994; NEUBAUER et al., 1995; DALLMEYER et al., 1996, 1998). This metamorphism also affected the Permian to Mesozoic cover rocks which occur along the northern margin of the Rennfeld basement complex (Text-Fig. 1b). ⁴⁰Ar/³⁹Ar and Rb-Sr mineral dating of Permian to Mesozoic cover successions and lithologies of the overlying Graywacke constrain a late Cretaceous age of metamorphism (102 to 90 Ma; HANDLER, 2994; DALLMEYER et al., 1996, 1998). In the adjacent Gleinalm basement area (FRANK et al., 1976, 1983; NEUBAUER et al., 1995), Rb-Sr, K-Ar and ⁴⁰Ar/³⁹Ar dating of muscovite/sericite revealed Late Cretaceous cooling between c. 95 and 80 Ma following Early Alpine epidote amphibolite facies metamorphism.

Further geochronologic studies in the adjacent Gleinalm block yielded the following results: Felsic plagioclase gneiss gave a 518±48 Ma Rb-Sr whole rock age (recalculated with the IUGS-recommended decay constant of 1.42 \times 10⁻¹¹ a⁻¹ [STEIGER & JÄGER, 1977]) which is interpreted to represent Cambrian magma formation (FRANK et al., 1976). This date was confirmed by U-Pb zircon dating indicating an age of >500 Ma for magma formation (HAISS, 1990). Rb-Sr whole rock dating of a sheetlike granitic augengneiss body along upper margins of the amphibolitegneiss sequence gave an age of 331 ± 25 Ma (FRANK et al., 1983). Rb-Sr muscovite ages from pegmatites coincide within limits of confidence with the augengneiss Rb-Sr whole rock date (FRANK et al., 1983). This study presents results of a conventional U-Pb study on zircon from five samples of a limited area in the Rennfeld block (for sample locations, see Text-Fig. 2): migmatitic paragneiss (sample RF450), garnet amphibolite (RF112G) and trondhjemite gneiss (RF107G) (both enclosed in the plagioclase amphibolite layer), Rennfeld metatonalite (RF118G), and augengneiss (RF460) forming a lense within the Rennfeld metatonalite.

3. Analytical Techniques

Concentration of the zircon crystals was achieved by means of a Wilfley table, a magnetic separator, and heavy liquids. The zircons were separated by hand-picking after size, colour, turbidity and shape. The isotopic analyses were performed in the Geochronologisches Zentrallabor, University of Münster, Germany. 1-10 mg aliquots of different zircon fractions were dissolved following the standard low contamination procedure after KROGH (1973). U and Pb concentrations and Pb isotopic compositions were measured using a NBS-type Teledyne mass spectrometer. The mass fractionation of lead was corrected linearly 0.12 per cent per amu. The Pb isotopic data (Tab. 1) were corrected for initial Pb and analytical blank. The isotopic composition of the common lead in the zircons was corrected after the age-related model of STACEY & KRAMERS (1975). An analytical total blank of ca. 0.1-0.5 ng was measured during the analytical work.

The IUGS-recommended constants (STEIGER & JÄGER, 1977) were used for age calculation. The calculation of errors and error propagation of ²⁰⁶Pb/²³⁸U and the ²⁰⁷Pb/²³⁵U ratios was carried out after LUDWIG (1980, 1991), considering the errors of measured isotopic ratios, the uncertainties of the U/Pb ratio in the mixed spike, the error propagation due to the spike/sample ratio, and errors

Text-Fig. 3.

Typical textures of the paragneiss and the plagioclase amphibolite.

- a) Migmatitic structures of hornblendefels (H) and trondhjemite (T) within plagioclase amphibolite (A).
- (A).
 b) Two generations of leucosome in migmatitic paragneiss. Penetratively foliated leucosome (L1) from anatexis 1 with foliation (F) postdating anatexis 1 are discordantly cut by leucosome 2 (L2).

arising from uncertainties of Pb blank and common Pb correction (MATTINSON, 1987). The error assigned to the ²⁰⁷Pb/²⁰⁴Pb and ²⁰⁶Pb/²⁰⁴Pb initial and blank Pb isotopic composition is less than 1 percent. The error ellipses on the concordia diagrams were drawn for a 95 % confidence level. The discordias were calculated according to the least squares method (YORK, 1969), with individual errors and correlation factors of the ²⁰⁶Pb/²³⁸U and ²⁰⁷Pb/²³⁵U isotopic ratios. Correlation with the geological time scale is based on calibrations of HARLAND et al. (1989), GRADSTEIN & OGG (1995) and REMANE (2000).

4. Geochronologic Results 4.1. Paragneiss

The investigated paragneiss (RF450) is represented by a strongly foliated, quartz-rich biotite gneiss without leucosomes. All zircons are well-rounded due to their detrital origin (Text-Fig. 4). Three types of zircons were distinguished according to their colour: (1) Red (or pink) zircons dominate. They show smooth surfaces, although sometimes richly facetted crystals are found (Text-Fig. 4a). Some crystals show grooves (Text-Fig. 4b). (2) Colourless zircons are distinguished from the pink ones only by their colour. There are all transitions to the pink zircons. (3) Intensely brown-





Text-Fig. 4. Paragneiss zircons (sample RF450). a) Multifacetted crystal with rounded edges. b) Surface of the crystal with grooves. Text-Fig. 5. Concordia diagram with paragneiss zircon data (sample RF450). Note that regression may have no significance.



coloured zircons are only present in coarse fractions. They often exhibit a "pitted" surface with small angular grooves and casts.

Five fractions of the red zircons were studied. Their U contents range from 222 to 282 ppm (Table 1) which is unusually

low in comparison to other detrital zircons from Austroalpine paragneisses (GRAUERT & ARNOLD, 1968; SÖLLNER & HANSEN, 1987).

The paragneiss zircons are close to the concordia in the concordia diagram with apparent ²⁰⁷Pb/²⁰⁶Pb ages of 437 to 483 Ma (Text-Fig. 5). They do not define a discordia. The data rather resemble a magmatic origin than to a clastic rock with mixed, old sources. These data appear to be only compatible with a magmatic zircon source not older than Late Proterozoic.

4.2. Garnet Amphibolite

In contrast to the enclosing plagioclase amphibolites, the rare garnet amphibolite lenses (location of sample RF112G; Text-Fig. 2) show high zirconium contents (ca. 1200 ppm) contained in numerous zircon crystals. The garnet amphibolite show the chemical, especially trace characteristics of an alkaline basaltic rock (NEUBAUER [1988] and further own unpublished data). The zircon crystals (Text-Fig. 6a, b) are clear, translucent, colourless or sometimes slightly pink. They are elongated, have rounded surfaces, and never show clearly developed crystal faces probably due to anatectic overprint. Irregular, contorted shapes and mutual intergrowths are abundant.

The U contents of the zircons are low and range from 42.8 to 64.4 ppm without systematic relationship to grain size (Table 1). The ²⁰⁶Pb/²⁰⁴Pb ratios range from 76 to 3,148. Because of the low ²⁰⁶Pb/²⁰⁴Pb ratios of two fractions (Table 1), the analytical uncertainty is high and respective discordias are not well defined. However, the data constrain a thermal disturbance of the Pb isotopic system younger than ca. 450 Ma (Text-Fig. 7).

4.3. Metatonalite

The metatonalite (sample RF118G) has Zr contents around 400 ppm (NEUBAUER, 1988) and contains numerous zircon crystals. The zircons are coloured and show rounded edges and surfaces or even embayments and grooves, which is interpreted as dissolution effects (Text-Fig. 8a, b). In rare cases there are rounded cores visible in the microscope. Some zircons are overgrown on one side by homoaxial rims which results in club-shaped crystals. NEUBAUER (1988) showed that zircon crystals, which are included in biotite, amphibole, and plagioclase, are significantly smaller than intergranular crystals, indicating that they were enclosed in an early stage of their growth. In contrast, some of the big zircon crystals may have been added by assimilation of country rock during magma uprise, and were subsequently overgrown by magmatic rims.

Grains with optically discernible cores or overgrowth rims were excluded from analysis. Seven grain size fractions were analysed (Table 1). The U contents of the zircons do not exhibit a systematic clustering (Tab. 1). The U contents of the fractions $40-63 \ \mu\text{m}$ and $100-125 \ \mu\text{m}$ are between 539 and 588 ppm, of the fraction >160 \ \mum 397 ppm, and of the fraction 125–160 \ \mum 304 ppm. The five fractions between 40 and 125 \ \mum m define a discordia with a lower intercept at $353+7/-10 \ \text{Ma}$ and an upper intercept near 3,000 \ Ma (2,975±206 \ \text{Ma}: Text-Fig. 9a). The two coarsest fractions (125–160 \ \mum, >160 \ \mum) define a nearly parallel discordia with a lower intercept at $367\pm3 \ \text{Ma}$ and an upper intercept at $ca. 3,200 \ \text{Ma}$.

The lower intercept age could be explained as mixing between inherited and newly grown magmatic zicons which have been affected by secondary solution, likely during a late stage of crystallization due to autothermal effects. Consequently, due to missing euhedral zircons, which we could expect in a plutonic rock, and solution effects, the lower intercepts of the metatonalite are interpreted to be related to a thermal event rather than to zircon crystallization in the magma. However, these events are related to each other. We therefore assume, that the age of zircon crystallization is close to the lower intercept ages, and the most likely crystallization age of the Rennfeld metatonalite is between 367 and 353 Ma.

The upper intercepts indicate the presence of an Archaean component contained in the crystal cores. The zircon cores are interpreted to be inherited from an Archean source region of the tonalitic magma.



Text-Fig. 6. Zircons from the garnet amphibolite (a, b = sample RF112G) and trondhjemite (c, d = sample RF107G).



4.4. Augengneiss

The augengneiss forms lenses (c. 10 metres thick) within metatonalite. There are transitions between both rock types suggesting a cogenetic origin or gradual assimilation of an older porphyric granite into the tonalite magma.

The augengneiss (sample RF460) contains elongated zir-con crystals with rounded edges and

Text-Fig. 7. Concordia diagram with garnet amphibolite zircon data. Note that regression may have no significance.

faces (Text-Fig. 8c, d). The crystal habit is only recognizable in some cases: there is an equivalent development of the (100) and (110) prisms and a predominance of the (211) over the (101) pyramid. The crystals are affected by anatectic solution which formed concave grooves (Text-Fig. 8c).

Four zircon fractions were analysed. The U contents are 512 to 652 ppm (Table 1). The isotopic data however, plot completely differently in the concordia diagram (Text-Fig. 9b). Although there is no systematic variation of the U contents with the grain size, the ²⁰⁷Pb/²⁰⁶Pb apparent ages increase with increasing grain size (Text-Fig. 9b). The four fractions define a discordia with a lower intercept at ca. 433 (+9/–19) Ma and an upper intercept at ca. 2,252 Ma (Text-Fig. 9b). Since the data plot near the lower intercept, this intercept can be interpreted either as intrusion or as metamorphism age. Solution effects of the zircons of both the metatonalite and the augengneiss may be indicative for a high-grade metamorphic overprint. The upper intercept of the augengneiss is interpreted to reflect the presence of old cores in the zircon cores inherited from Precambrian crust.

The lower intercepts of both augengneiss and metatonalite reflect two different metamorphic events rather than zircon growth in protolith magmas.

4.5. Trondhjemite Gneiss

The trondhjemite gneiss (sample RF107G) is characterized by exclusively euhedral zircon crystals (Text-Fig. 6c,d), which are only contained in the fractions >80 μ m, most crystals being larger than 125 μ m. It is the only sample in the present study that contains euhedral zircons. The (100) prism predominates over the (110) prism, and the (211) pyramid over the (101) pyramid (Text-Fig. 10). Some zircons show oscillatory zoning or bubbles elongated parallel to the crystallographic c-axis. A few zircons include metamict cores; these were excluded from U-Pb analysis.

Three fractions were analysed. The U contents range from 136.6 to 180 ppm. The fraction $100-125 \,\mu$ m within the analytical error at 353 ± 2 Ma on the concordia (Text-Fig. 9c), the other two near the concordia. Calculating a discordia, the upper intercept of these three fractions is at 363 (– 9/+16) Ma, the lower intercept at 106 Ma. The upper intercept age is interpreted to date the crystallization of the trondhjemite magma. The lower intercept corresponds to a low-grade Cretaceous metamorphic overprint as also constrained by 40 Ar/ 39 Ar and Rb-Sr isotopic systems.

5. Discussion

The U-Pb data of zircon populations from selected rocks of the Rennfeld area reflect a complex history of the Austroalpine crystalline basement. Three of four studied samples of magmatic origin yielded zircons with rounded surfaces and grooves but no crystal faces. Such features are known from migmatites and granulites (e.g., HOPPE, 1966; PIN & LANCELOT, 1982; GUPTA & JOHANNES, 1985; PEUCAT,



Zircons from rocks of the Rennfeld metatonalite suite: a, b = Rennfeld metatonalite; c, d = granitic augengneiss.



Text-Fig. 9.

Concordia diagram with U-Pb zircon data from the Rennfeld metatonalite suite. a) Rennfeld metatonalite.

- b) Granitic augengneiss from the Rennfeld tonalite suite
- feld tonalite suite.c) Trondhjemite from the base of the plagioclase amphibolite.

1986). In contrast, the trondhjemite gneiss contains euhedral zircon crystals. We conclude that the rounded, partly dissolved zircons also grew as euhedral crystals in the protolith magma but attained their rounded shape during highgrade metamorphism (anatexis). This anatectic event is obviously the same that produced the trondhjemite magma by partial melting of amphibolite (NEUBAUER, 1988).

Zircons with a polystage thermal evolution are difficult to assess (for recent reviews, see LEE et al., 1997; MEZGER & KROGSTADT, 1997). Zircons with a low uranium content are affected only by a low degree of diffusion although diffusion depends, beside temperature, from many factors like duration of the heating event. The uranium contents of zircons from paragneiss and garnet amphibolite are low compared with similar rock types. Consequently, we assume that these rocks are not drastically reset by thermal events subsequent to the first stage of metamorphism.

This interpretation favours the view of a multistage evolution of the zircons of all studied rocks with the exception of the trondhjemite gneiss. The zircon populations of these samples are positioned near the concordia in the U-Pb evolution diagram. This means that the thermal event which resulted in lead loss could not be much older than the 207Pb/206Pb apparent ages. On the other hand, the nearly concordant zircons from the paragneiss show that the protoliths of the host rocks in which the magmatic rocks intruded cannot be older than ca. 700 Ma. The near-concordancy of the paragneiss zircons, their unusual low U contents, and their young age relative to their sedimentation age exclude a continental source



Text-Fig. 10.

Pupin diagram of trondhjemite gneiss zircons.

Indices A and B according to PUPIN (1980). Note two groups of crystal habits.

region and strongly suggest a juvenile subduction-related magmatic source.

Zircons with a polystage thermal evolution are difficult to assess (for recent reviews, see LEE et al., 1997; MEZGER & KROGSTADT, 1997). Zircons with a low uranium content are affected only by a low degree of diffusion although diffusion depends, beside temperature, from many factors like duration of the heating event. The uranium contents of zircons from paragneiss and garnet amphibolite are low compared with similar rock types. Consequently, we assume that these rocks are not drastically reset by thermal events subsequent to the first stage of metamorphism.

The concordant age of the trondhjemite is, within the analytical error, the same as the lower intercept age of the Rennfeld metatonalite. This matches the field evidence with the presence of a contact aureole within which feldspar metablastesis in paragneiss and anatexis of amphibolite and paragneiss occurred. As no further geochronological evidence exists (beside of an inconclusive Rb-Sr errorchrone), we do not entirely exclude the possibility of a slightly earlier age of intrusion as shown by lower intercept of coarse-graned zircon fractions.

The lower intercept of the metatonalite discordia gives a younger age (353 Ma) than the lower intercept of the granitic augengneiss (433 Ma). The dated augengneiss is part of a number of lenses which represent inclusions within the metatonalite. The augengneiss inclusions have similar petrographic, chemical, and Sr isotope signatures over distances of more than 20 km (NEUBAUER, 1992). These data preclude differentiation of the granitic augengneisses from the tonalitic magma. Field observations, chemical and geochronologic data clearly indicate that the metatonalite intruded into a porphyric granite after the peak of the first and before the second anatectic event. Both events show characteristics of a high-grade metamorphic overprint and anatexis. We suggest that the intrusion of the tonalite magma provided heat to trigger anatexis during the second migmatitic event. This is corroborated by the restriction of migmatite formation, feldspar blastesis and general coarsening of grain size to a zone in the order of 1 kilometre width from the Rennfeld metatonalite contact.

We propose the following two alternative models for the evolution of the Rennfeld block which appears to be characteristic for an important part of Austroalpine basement:

- The magmatic protoliths of the garnet amphibolite and the augengneiss intruded volcanogenic sediments in Late Proterozoic or Early Paleozoic times. These rocks together suffered high-grade metamorphism in the time span between 450 and 425 Ma. The zircons were in part reset during this thermal event.
- 2) Alternatively, the augengneiss protolith intruded within the 450–425 Ma interval.

The intrusion of the Rennfeld tonalite followed at ca. 367–353 Ma. It is related to the second anatectic event between 360 and 350 Ma, which resulted from heat transfer during the tonalite intrusion.

The metatonalite reveals a pronounced Precambrian lead component, which is in contrast to the mantle origin of the magma as suggested from its chemical composition. We explain the Precambrian component by the presence of Archean rocks in the continental crust through which the magma ascended. The augengneiss and the garnet amphibolite contain Proterozoic memories. The memory of the augengneiss (2,275 Ma) is within the range of the upper intercepts of paragneiss zircons reported from elsewhere in the Austroalpine realm (GRAUERT et al., 1973, 1974; SÖLLNER & HANSEN, 1987).

The new radiometric data of the Rennfeld region show that the Austroalpine basement experienced accretion of important volumes of juvenile, subduction-related magmatic rocks and their detrital derivates in late Proterozoic and early Paleozoic times (HAISS, 1990; MAGGETTI & FLISCH, 1993; MÜLLER et al., 1995; THÖNI, 1999; NEUBAUER et al., 2002) and contains memory of older, partly Archean crust in zircon cores. Similar patterns have been found in the Penninic and Helvetic basements of the Swiss Alps (GEBAUER et al., 1988, 1989; GEBAUER, 1993; KÖPPEL, 1993, NEUBAUER, 2002 for reviews). Archean and Proterozoic components are also found in the extra-Alpine Variscides (e.g., KRÖNER et al., 1988; LIEW & HOFMANN, 1988; TEUFEL, 1988; GEBAUER et al., 1988, 1989). Recycling processes by metamorphism and anatexis destroyed much of the Precambrian lithologies during the Paleozoic orogenies.

The U-Pb zircon data confirm the two-stage magmatic/metamorphic evolution of the Rennfeld block which already becomes obvious by the field relations. The strong tectonothermal event in Ordovician to Early Silurian times is interpreted as the expression of an important orogeny (e.g., FRISCH et al., 1984). Ages between 470 and 420 Ma, mainly for magma intrusions, are widespread in the Austroalpine basement (CLIFF, 1980; SCHARBERT, 1981; SCHARBERT & SCHÖNLAUB, 1980; NEUBAUER & FRISCH, 1993). In the Western Alps (Helvetic and Penninic basement units) similar ages were found as an expression of a high-pressure metamorphic event and of magma formation (e.g., GEBAUER, 1993, for review; PAQUETTE et al., 1998).

The magmatic episode at ca. 367–353 Ma is obviously much more important as suggested in previous models in the Alps (for review of older literature, see BONIN et al., 1993; FINGER et al., 1997; SCHERMAIER et al., 1997) and extra-Alpine Variscides (e.g., PIN & PAQUETTE, 1997). SCHARBERT (1981) reported a similar Rb-Sr whole rock age from the Zinken granite in the Seckauer Tauern, a western lateral extension of the Rennfeld block, PEINDL (1990) from the easternmost Austroalpine units. We interpret the calcalkaline Rennfeld layered metatonalite suite to result from subduction-related magmatism around the Devonian/Carboniferous boundary and to indicate an early stage of Variscan plate convergence. This event predates continental plate collision recorded by early Visean onset of flysch deposition on top of the Devonian to Tournaisian carbonate platform sediments of the later Southalpine and Austroalpine units (e.g., SCHÖNLAUB & HISTON, 2000), representing the lower plate at that time.

Final collision occurred in the late Early Carboniferous and led to consolidation of the Austroalpine basement complex. Intrusion of the Gleinalm granite (ca. 330 Ma; later transformed to augengneiss; FRANK et al., 1983) along the southeastern margin of the Gleinalm postdated the subduction-related, calcalkaline magmatism in the Rennfeld block.

The Paleozoic evolution of the Rennfeld region is in line with other Austroalpine and extra-Alpine Variscan basement complexes that record polyphase tectonothermal evolution with Ordovician/Silurian orogenic events overprinted by early Carboniferous magmatic and metamorphic paroxysm. An important new finding is the evidence for age of subduction magmatism at the Devonian/Carboniferous boundary.

The U-Pb zircon data from the Rennfeld basement complex record only a weak Alpine metamorphic overprint (e.g. in the trondhjemite gneiss) which is in accordance with ⁴⁰Ar/³⁹Ar mineral data from the overlying cover rocks and the Gleinalm basement (NEUBAUER et al., 1995; DALLMEYER et al., 1996, 1998). This is in line with well-preserved pre-Alpine structures and metamorphic mineral assemblages, which are overprinted by Cretaceous greenschist grade metamorphism only along distinct shear zones active in the Cretaceous under the influence of fluid infiltration (NEUBAUER et al., 1995). On the other hand, it is in contrast to other Austroalpine basement units (e.g., in the northern vicinity of the Rennfeld block; NEUBAUER et al., 1987, 2002), which experienced more penetrative Cretaceous low-grade metamorphic overprint. There, this overprint is recorded in the U-Pb zircon isotopic system.

6. Conclusions

From conventional U-Pb zircon analysis in the Rennfeld region of the Austroalpine basement we draw the following conclusions:

- Metamorphosed Paleozoic magmatic rocks reveal early Precambrian lead zircon components (up to 3 Ga in age).
- Metaclastic rocks contain seemingly juvenile zircons of possible late Proterozoic/early Phanerozoic age that may be derived from a magmatic source.
- There was formation of alkaline basaltic rocks and granitoids in early Paleozoic times.
- Two episodes of metamorphic/magmatic overprint, likely between 470–420 Ma and well-proofed by concordant data close to 353 Ma, are indicated by the U-Pb zircon data.
- The Rennfeld metatonalite suite and trondhjemite intruded at the Devonian/Carboniferous boundary and represents an important episode of calcalkaline magmatism.
- Only a minor Alpine metamorphic overprint was detected by means of the U-Pb zircon method in the Rennfeld block.

Acknowledgements

Financial support was given by Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft. The isotopic analyses were performed in the Geochronologisches Zentrallaboratorium at the University of Münster, Germany 1985–1988. F.N. gratefully acknowledges advice and help with the analytical work by Borwin GRAUERT, Dieter BUHL, and Stefan TEUFEL, all at Münster during that time. Susanne BORCHERT corrected the English text of an earlier version. We acknowledge reviews and remarks by two anonymous reviewers and G. WÖRNER to an earlier version of the manuscript.

References

- BONIN, B., BRÄNDLEIN, P., BUSSY, F., DESMONS, J., EGGENBERGER, U., FINGER, F., GRAF, K., MARRO, Ch., MERCOLLI, I., OBERHÄNSLI, R., PLOQUIN, A., VON QUADT, A., VON RAUMER, J.F., SCHALTEGGER, U., STEYRER. H.-P., VISONA, D. & VIVIER, G. (1993): Late Variscan Magmatic Evolution of the Alpine Basement. – In: v. RAUMER, J.F. & NEUBAUER, F. (Eds.): Pre-Mesozoic Geology in the Alps, 171–201, Berlin – Heidelberg – New York (Springer).
- CLIFF, R.A. (1980): U-Pb isotopic evidence for lower Palaeozoic tectonic activity in the Austroalpine nappe, the eastern Alps. – Contr. Mineral. Petrol., 71, 280–288.
- DALLMEYER, R.D., NEUBAUER, F., HANDLER, R., FRITZ, H., MÜLLER, W., PANA, D. & PUTIS, M. (1996): Tectonothermal evolution of the internal Alps and Carpathians: ⁴⁰Ar/³⁹Ar mineral and whole rock data. – Ecl. Geol. Helv., **89**, 203–277.
- DALLMEYER, R.D., HANDLER, R., NEUBAUER, F. & FRITZ, H. (1998): Sequence of thrusting within a thick-skinned tectonic wedge: Evidence from ⁴⁰Ar/³⁹Ar and Rb-Sr ages from the Austroalpine nappe complex of the Eastern Alps. – J. Geol., **106**, 71–86.
- EICHHORN, R., SCHÄRER, U. & HÖLL, R. (1995): Age and evolution of scheelite-hosting rocks in the Felbertal deposit (Eastern Alps): U-Pb geochronology of zircon and titanite. – Contrib. Mineral. Petrol., **119**, 377–386.
- EICHHORN, R., HÖLL, R., LOTH, G. & KENNEDY, A. (1999): Implications of U-Pb SHRIMP zircon data on the age and evolution of the Felbertal tungsten deposit (Tauern Window, Austria). – Int. J. Earth Sci., 88, 496–512.
- FINGER, F., ROBERTS, M. P., HAUSCHMID, B., SCHERMAIER, A. & STEY-RER, H.-P. (1997): Variscan granitoids of central Europe: their typology, potential sources and tectonothermal relations. – Mineral. Petrol., 61, 67–96.
- FLÜGEL, H.W., SASSI, F.P. & GRECULA, P. (Eds.) (1987): Pre-Variscan and Variscan events in the Alpine-Mediterranean mountain belts. – Mineralia slovaka Monography, 1–488, Bratislava (Alfa).
- FRANK, W., KLEIN, P., NOWY, W. & SCHARBERT, S. (1976): Die Datierung geologischer Ereignisse im Altkristallin der Gleinalpe (Steiermark) mit der Rb/Sr-Methode. – Tschermaks Mineral. Petr. Mitt., 23, 191–203.
- FRANK, W., ESTERLUS, M., FREY, I., JUNG, G., KROHE, A. & WEBER, J. (1983): Die Entwicklungsgeschichte von Stub- und Koralpenkristallin und die Beziehung zum Grazer Paläozoikum. – Die frühalpine Geschichte der Ostalpen, 4, 263–293.
- FRANK, W., KRALIK, M., SCHARBERT, S. & THÖNI, M. (1987): Geochronologic Data from the Eastern Alps. – In: FLÜGEL, H.W. & FAUPL, P. (Eds.): Geodynamics of the Eastern Alps, 272–281, Vienna (Deuticke).
- FRISCH, W., NEUBAUER, F. & SATIR, M. (1984): Concepts of the evolution of the Austroalpine basement complex (Eastern Alps) during the Caledonian-Variscan cycle. – Geol. Rundsch., 73, 47-68.
- FRISCH, W., NEUBAUER, F., BRÖCKER, M., BRÜCKMANN, W. & HAISS, N. (1987): Interpretation of geochemical data from the Caledonian basement within the Austroalpone basement complex. – In: FLÜ-GEL, H.W., SASSI, F.P. & GRECULA, P. (Eds.): Pre-Variscan and Variscan events in the Alpine-Mediterranean mountain belts. Minerala slovaca Monography, 209–226, Bratislava (Alfa).
- FRISCH, W., MENOT, R.P., NEUBAUER, F. & VON RAUMER, J.F. (1990): Correlation and evolution of the Alpine basement. – Schweiz. Mineral. Petrogr. Mitt., **70**, 265–285.
- GEBAUER, D. (1993): The pre-Alpine evolution of the continental crust of the Central Alps - an overview. – In: VON RAUMER, J.F. & NEUBAUER, F. (Eds.): Pre-Mesozoic Geology in the Alps, 93–117, Berlin – Heidelberg – New York (Springer).
- GEBAUER, D., VON QUADT, A., COMPSTON, W., WILLIAMS, I. S. & GRÜ-NENFELDER, M. (1988): Archean zircons in a retrograded, Caledonian eclogite of the Gotthard Massif (Central Alps, Switzerland). – Schweiz. Mineral. Petrogr Mitt., 68, 485–490.

- GEBAUER, D., WILLIAMS, I.S., COMPSTON, W. & GRÜNENFELDER, M. (1989): The development of the Central European continental crust since the Early Archean based on conventional and ionmicroprobe dating of up to 3.84 b.y. old detrital zircons. – Tectonophysics, **157**, 81–96.
- GRADSTEIN, F.M. & OGG, J. (1996): A Phanerozoic timescale. Episodes, 19, 3–4, 26.
- GRAUERT, B. & ARNOLD, A. (1968): Deutung diskordanter Zirkonalter der Silvrettadecke und des Gotthardmassivs (Schweizer Alpen). – Contr. Mineral. Petrol., 20, 34–56.
- GRAUERT, B., HÄNNY, R. & SOPTRAJANOVA, G. (1973): Age and origin of detrital zircons from pre-Permian basements of the Bohemian Massif and the Alps. – Contr. Mineral. Petrol., 40, 105–130.
- GRAUERT, B., SEITZ, M.G. & SOPTRAJANOVA, G. (1974): Uranium and lead gain on detrital zircon studied by isotopic analyses and fission-track mapping. – Earth Planet. Sci. Lett., 21, 389–399.
- GUPTA, L.N. & JOHANNES, W. (1985): Effect of metamorphism and partial melting of host rocks on zircons. J. metamorphic Geol., **3**, 311–323.

HAISS, N. (1990): Untersuchungen zur Genese von Plagioklasgneisen im Basiskristallin der Ostalpen (Gleinalm-, Ötztal- und Silvrettakristallin). – PhD thesis, University of Tübingen, 138 pp.

HANDLER, R. (1994): ⁴⁰Ar/³⁹Ar and Rb-Sr mineral dating within a complex polymetamorphic terrain: the northeastern Alps, Austria. – PhD thesis University of Graz, 143 pp.

- HARLAND, W.B., ARMSTRONG, R.L., COX, A.V., CRAIG, L.E., SMITH, A. G. & SMITH, D.G. (1989): A geologic time scale. – Cambridge University Press.
- HOPPE, G. (1966): Zirkone aus Granuliten. Ber. dtsch. Ges. Geol. Wiss. Reihe B, **11**, 47–81.
- KLÖTZLI-CHOWANETZ, E., KLÖTZLI, U. & KOLLER, F. (1997): Lower Ordovician migmatisation in the Ötztal crystalline basement (Eastern Alps, Austria): linking U-Pb and Pb-Pb dating with zircon morphology. – Schweiz. Mineral. Petrogr. Mitt., 77, 315–324.
- KÖPPEL, V. (1993): The Lepontine Area, a Geochronological Summary. – In: VON RAUMER, J.F. & NEUBAUER, F. (Eds.): Pre-Mesozoic Geology in the Alps, 345–348, Berlin – Heidelberg – New York (Springer).
- KROGH, T.K. (1973): A low Contamination Method for Hydrothermal Decomposition of Zircons and Extraction of U and Pb for Isotopic Age Determinations. – Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta, 37, 485–494.
- KRÖNER, A., WENDT, I., LIEW, T.C., COMPSTON, W., TODT, W., FIALA, J., VANKOVA, V. & VANEK, J. (1988): U-Pb zircon and Sm-Nd model ages of high-grade Moldanubian metasediments, Bohemian Massif, Czechoslovakia. – Contr. Mineral. Petrol., 99, 257–266.
- LEE, J.K.W., WILLIAMS, I. & ELLIS, D.J. (1997): Pb, U and Th diffusion in natural zircons. Nature, **390**, 159–160.
- LIEW, T.C. & HOFMANN, A.W. (1988): Precambrian crustal components, plutonic associations, plate environment of the Hercynian fold belt of central Europe: Indications from a Nd and Sr isotopic study. – Contr. Mineral. Petrol., **98**, 129–138.
- LUDWIG, K.R. (1980): Calculation of uncertainties of U-Pb isotopic data. – Earth Planet. Sci. Lett., 46, 212–220.
- LUDWIG, K.R. (1991): A plotting and regression program for radiogenic isotope data. Version 2.53. – US Geol Surv Open-File Report, 91.
- MAGGETTI, M. & FLISCH, M. (1993): Evolution of the Silvretta Nappe. – In: VON RAUMER, J.F. & NEUBAUER, F. (Eds.): Pre-Mesozoic Geology in the Alps, 469–484, Berlin – Heidelberg – New York (Springer).
- MANBY, G.M. & THIEDIG, F. (1988): Petrology of eclogites from the Saualpe, Austria. – Schweiz. Mineral. Petrogr. Mitt., 68, 441–466.
- MATTINSON, J.M. (1987): U-Pb ages of zircons: a basic examination of error propagation. – Chem. Geol. (Isot. Geosci. Sect.), 66, 151–162.
- MEZGER, K. & KROGSTADT, E.J. (1997): Interpretation of discordant U-Pb zircon ages: An evaluation. – J. metamorphic Geol., 15, 127–140.
- MILLER, C. & THÖNI, M. (1995): Origin of eclogites from the Austroalpine Ötztal basement (Tirol, Austria): geochemistry and Sm-Nd vs. Rb-Sr isotope systematics. – Chem. Geol., **122**, 199–225.
- MÜLLER, B., KLÖTZLI, U.S. & FLISCH, M. (1995): U-Pb and Pb-Pb zircon dating of the older orthogneiss suite in the Silvretta nappe, eastern Alps: Cadomian magmatism in the upper Austro-Alpine realm. – Geol. Rundsch., 84, 457–465.

- NEUBAUER, F. (1988): Bau und Entwicklungsgeschichte des Rennfeld-Mugel- und des Gleinalm-Kristallins (Ostalpen). – Abhandl. Geol. Bundesanst., **42**, 1–137.
- NEUBAUER, F. (1992): The Rennfeld complex, a Paleozoic calcalkaline layered intrusion within the Austro-Alpine basement: field evidence, geochemistry and Rb-Sr isotopic composition. – Terra Nova Abstr. Suppl., **2**, 47–48.
- NEUBAUER, F. (2002): Evolution of late Neoproterozoic to early Paleozoic tectonic elements in central and southeast European Alpine mountain belts: review and synthesis. – Tectonophysics, 352, 87–103.
- NEUBAUER, F. & FRISCH W. (1993): The Austro-Alpine Metamorphic Basement East of the Tauern Window. – In: VON RAUMER, J.F. & NEUBAUER, F. (Eds.): Pre-Mesozoic Geology in the Alps, 515–536, Berlin – Heidelberg – New York (Springer).
- NEUBAUER, F., FRISCH, W. & HANSEN, B.T. (1987): Time relations between Eoalpine metamorphism and thrusting: evidence from the crystalline basement of the eastern Greywacke Zone. – In: FLÜ-GEL, H.W. & FAUPL, P. (Eds.): Geodynamics of the Eastern Alps, 263–271, Vienna (Deuticke).
- NEUBAUER, F., DALLMEYER, R.D., DUNKL, I. & SCHIRNIK, D. (1995): Late Cretaceous cooling of the metamorphic Gleinalm dome, Eastern Alps: kinematics, cooling history, and sedimentary response in a sinistral wrench corridor. – Tectonophysics, 242, 79–98.
- NEUBAUER, F., FRISCH, W. & HANSEN, B.T. (2002): Early Palaeozoic tectonothermal events in basement complexes of the eastern Graywacke Zone (Eastern Alps. evidence from U-Pb zircon data). Int. J. Earth Sci., **91**, 775–786.
- PAQUETTE, J.-L., MENOT, R.-P. & PEUCAT, J.-L. (1998): REE, Sm-Nd and U-Pb zircon study of eclogites from the Alpine External massifs (Western Alps): evidence for crustal contamination. – Earth Planet. Sci. Lett., 96, 181–198.
- PEINDL, P. (1990): Variszische und alpidische Entwicklungsgeschichte des südöstlichen Raabalpenkristallins (Steiermark). – PhD thesis, University of Graz, 252 pp.
- PEUCAT, J.J. (1986): Behaviour of Rb-Sr whole rock and U-Pb zircon systems during partial melting as shown in migmatitic gneisses from the St. Malo Massif, NE Brittany, France. – J. Geol. Soc. London, 143, 875–885.
- PIN, Ch. & LANCELOT, J. (1982): U-Pb Dating of an Early Paleozoic bimodal magmatism in the French Massif Central and of its further metamorphic evolution. – Contr. Miner. Petrol., 79, 1–12.
- PIN, Ch. & PAQUETTE, J.L. (1997): A mantle-derived bimodal suite in the Hercynian belt: Nd isotope and trace element evidence for a subduction-related rift origin of the Late Devonian Brévenne metavolcanics, Massif Central (France). – Contr. Mineral. Petrol., **129**, 222–238.
- PUPIN, J.P. (1980): Zircon and granite petrology. Contr. Mineral. Petrol., **73**, 207–220.
- QUADT, A. VON (1992): U-Pb zircon and Sm-Nd geochronology of mafic and ultramafic rocks from the central part of the Tauern window (eastern Alps). – Contr. Mineral. Petrol., **110**, 57–67.
- RAUMER, J.F. VON & NEUBAUER, F. (1993): Late Precambrian and Palaeozoic Evolution of the Alpine Basement – An Overview. – In: VON RAUMER, J.F. & NEUBAUER, F. (Eds.): Pre-Mesozoic Geology in the Alps, 625–639, Berlin – Heidelberg – New York (Springer).
- REMANE, J. (Ed.) (2000): Explanatory note to the international stratigraphic chart. – Division of Earth Sciences, UNESCO, Paris, 1–16.
- SCHALTEGGER, U., NÄGLER, T.F., CORFU, F., MAGGETTI, M., GALETTI, G. & STOSCH, H.G. (1997): A Cambrian island arc in the Silvretta nappe: constraints from geochemistry and geochronology. – Schweiz. Mineral. Petrogr. Mitt., 77, 337–350.
- SCHARBERT, S. (1981): Untersuchungen zum Alter des Seckauer Kristallins. – Mitt. Ges. Geol. Bergbaustud. Österr., 27, 175–188.
- SCHARBERT, S. & SCHÖNLAUB, H.P. (1980): Das Prävariszikum und Variszikum. – In: OBERHAUSER, R. (Ed.): Der geologische Aufbau Österreichs, 3–20, Vienna (Springer).
- SCHERMAIER, A., HAUNSCHMID, B. & FINGER, F. (1997): Distribution of Variscan I- and S-type granites in the Eastern Alps: a possible clue to unravel pre-Alpine basement structures. – Tectonophysics, 272, 315–32X.
- SCHÖNLAUB, H.P. & HISTON, K. (2000): The Palaeozoic evolution of the Southern Alps. – Mitt. Österr. Geol. Ges., 92 (1999), 15–34.

- SÖLLNER, F. & HANSEN, B.T. (1987): "Pan-afrikanisches" und "kaledonisches" Ereignis im Ötztal-Kristallin der Ostalpen: Rb-Sr- und U-Pb-Altersbestimmungen an Magmatiten und Metamorphiten. – Jb. Geol. B.-A., **130**, 529–569.
- STACEY, J.S. & KRAMERS, J.D. (1975): Approximation of terrestrial lead isotope evolution by a two-stage model. – Earth Planet. Sci. Lett., 26, 207–221.
- STEIGER, R.H. & JÄGER, E. (1977): Subcommission on geochronology: convention on the use of decay constants in geo- and cosmochronology. – Earth Planet. Sci. Lett., 36, 359–362.
- STILLE, P. & BULETTI, M. (1987): Nd-Sr isotopic behaviour of the Lugano volcanic rocks and constraints on the continental crust formation in the South-Alpine domain (N Italy – Switzerland). – Contr. Mineral. Petrol., 96, 140–150.
- TEUFEL, S. (1988): Vergleichende U-Pb- und Rb-Sr-Altersbestimmungen an Gesteinen des Übergangsbereiches Saxothuringikum/Moldanubikum, NE-Bayern. – Göttinger Arb. Geol. Paläont., 35, 1–87.

- THÖNI, M. (1999): A review of geochronological data from the Eastern Alps. – Schweiz. Mineral. Petrogr. Mitt., **79**, 209–230.
- THÖNI, M. & JAGOUTZ, E. (1992): Some new aspects of dating eclogites in orogenic belts: Sm-Nd, Rb-Sr, and Pb-Pb isotopic results from the Austroalpine Saualpe and Koralpe type-locality (Carinthia/Styria, southeastern Austria). – Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta, 56, 347–368.
- VAVRA, G. & HANSEN, B.T. (1991): Cathodoluminescence studies and U/Pb dating of zircons in pre-Mesozoic gneisses of the Tauern Window: Implications for the Penninic basement evolution. – Geol. Rundsch., 80, 703–715.
- YORK, D. (1969): Least-squares fitting of a straight line with correlated errors. – Earth Planet. Sci. Lett., **5**, 320–324.

Manuskript bei der Schriftleitung eingelangt am 8. Jänner 2003

ZOBODAT - www.zobodat.at

Zoologisch-Botanische Datenbank/Zoological-Botanical Database

Digitale Literatur/Digital Literature

Zeitschrift/Journal: Jahrbuch der Geologischen Bundesanstalt

Jahr/Year: 2003

Band/Volume: 143

Autor(en)/Author(s): Neubauer Franz, Frisch Wolfgang, Hansen Bent Tauber

Artikel/Article: <u>Early Paleozoic and Variscan Events in the Austroalpine Rennfeld</u> <u>Block (Eastern Alps): A U-Pb Zircon Study 567-580</u>